

Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews 26 (2002) 61-67

NEUROSCIENCE AND BIOBEHAVIORAL REVIEWS

www.elsevier.com/locate/neubiorev

Review

Mechanisms and abuse liability of the anti-histamine dimenhydrinate

Alison G. Halpert^a, Mary C. Olmstead^a, Richard J. Beninger^{a,b,*}

^aDepartment of Psychology, Queen's University, Kingston, Ont., Canada K7L 3N6 ^bDepartment of Psychiatry, Queen's University, Kingston, Ont., Canada K7L 3N6

Received 5 June 2001; revised 24 September 2001; accepted 25 September 2001

Abstract

The over-the-counter anti-emetic dimenhydrinate (DMH) (Gravol or Dramamine) has been reported to be abused for non-medicinal purposes. Street drug users abuse DMH for the acute effects of euphoric sensations and hallucinations, while psychiatric patients abuse DMH for its anxiolytic or anti-cholinergic effects. DMH is an H_1 histamine receptor antagonist, but it interacts either directly or indirectly with other neurotransimitter systems, including those using acetylcholine, serotonin, norepinephrine, dopamine, opioids or adenosine. Animal behavioural studies, such as self-administration, conditioned place preference, drug discrimination, and modulation of operant responding, show that anti-histamines have abuse potential. Further support comes from reports of acute and chronic abuse of DMH by humans. Collectively, results confirm the abuse liability of DMH. © 2002 Published by Elsevier Science Ltd.

Keywords: Dimenhydrinate; Diphenhydramine; 8-Chlorotheophylline; Drug abuse; Histamine; Anti-histamine; Review

Contents

1.	Introduction	61
2.	Behavioural and neurochemical effects of dimenhydrinate	62
	2.1. Dimenhydrinate	62
	2.2. Diphenhydramine	62
	2.3. 8-Chlorotheophylline	63
3.	Evidence for abuse liability	63
	3.1. Animal studies	
	3.2. Human studies	
	3.3. Case studies	65
	3.4. Neurochemistry of abuse	
	Conclusions	
	knowledgements	
Re	ferences	66

1. Introduction

Over-the-counter (OTC) drugs are not always used for their intended purposes. Thus, anti-histamines may be administered for their reinforcing rather than their analphylactic effects. For example, heroin addicts will mix the narcotic analgesic pentazocine with the anti-histamine

E-mail address: beninger@psyc.queensu.ca (R.J. Beninger).

tripelennamine, a concoction known on the street as 'T's and Blues'. This drug combination creates a 'rush' that is indistinguishable from heroin [45]. Users of hallucinogens, such as lysergic acid diethylamide (LSD), or marijuana will substitute these drugs with large doses of OTC antihistamines to achieve euphoric tactile, visual or auditory sensations [4,26]. These examples show that anti-histamines have abuse potential.

In recent years, a number of case study reports indicate that dimenhydrinate (DMH), an OTC anti-histamine with the trade name Gravol or Dramamine, has abuse potential. DMH is composed of the anti-histaminergic agent

^{*} Corresponding author. Address: Department of Psychology, Queenís University, Kingston, Ont., Canada K7L 3N6. Tel.: +1-613-533-2486; fax: +1-613-533-2499.

diphenhydramine (DP), sold under the trade name Benadryl, plus the methylxanthine, 8-chlorotheophylline, in equimolar ratios [18,20]. At recommended doses DMH is used most commonly as an anti-emetic, an effect that is attributed generally to it's antagonism at the H₁ receptor [23,55]. Both acute and chronic abuse of DMH have been reported.

In 1997, a series of case studies described DMH abuse by adolescents who administered the drug for its hallucinogenic and euphoric properties [41]. In large doses (more than four times the recommended dose), DMH produces a 'high' characterised by hallucinations, excitement, incoordination, and disorientation [2,4,9,18,26]. These cases of DMH abuse have been reported in individuals with a history of illicit drug use [4,26,41].

Individuals with a history of a psychiatric disorder, such as schizophrenia [2], depression, substance abuse, and personality disorders [9,18,35] may repeatedly administer DMH. In such cases, tolerance to the acute subjective effects of the drug and symptoms of drug withdrawal can occur. Chronic consumption of DMH may be difficult to identify because symptoms of the dependence resemble the symptoms of some psychiatric disorders such as major depression and dysthymia [18].

Many researchers suggest that DP, the anti-histaminergic component of DMH, is responsible for the reinforcing effect of the drug [27]. This anti-histamine influences neurotransmitter systems either directly, by acting on receptors or transporters, or indirectly, by modulating their influence. The neurotransmitter systems that have been implicated in the behavioural effects of DMH include those using dopamine [53], acetylcholine [9], serotonin [8], norepinephrine [22] and opioids [51]. The neural mechanisms underlying the abuse potential of DMH are not yet established, however, and evidence for the abuse potential of DMH in particular, and of anti-histamines in general, underscores the need to identify these mechanisms.

2. Behavioural and neurochemical effects of dimenhydrinate

2.1. Dimenhydrinate

The effectiveness of DMH as an anti-emetic was first reported in 1949, when it was found to aid in the prevention of both seasickness [19] and airsickness [50]. The anti-emetic properties of DMH are thought to be produced by antagonism of H₁ histamine receptors in the vestibular system [23,46,55]. For example, electrophysiological studies have shown that both DMH and DP can suppress vestibular neuronal firing that is enhanced by angular or linear acceleration motions [23]. This would suggest that the ability of DMH to reduce nausea is due to the DP component of the drug. There may also be a synergistic effect with the addition of 8-chlorotheophylline [10]. A cold microcaloric test on normal human subjects found

that while DMH could alter vestibular functioning, neither DP nor 8-chlorotheophylline had the same effect [20].

2.2. Diphenhydramine

DP, often identified as the active component of DMH [27], is a competitive antagonist at the H₁ histamine receptor [1]. Histamine exists in both the peripheral and central nervous systems (CNS). In the CNS, it influences neuroendocrine system functions, ingestive behaviour, thermoregulation, cardiovascular regulation, and arousal [5,39]. The neurotransmitter also affects motor activity in both humans and laboratory animals. For example, histamine injections into the lateral ventricles of rats produced a biphasic motor response: decreased activity in the first 20 min after the injection, followed by a period of hyperactivity. Pretreatment with an H₁ receptor antagonist blocked both effects [24]. On the other hand, the anti-histamine DP has been reported to induce motor excitation in monkeys [14]. Whether these differences in motor activation are related to drug dose, route of administration, species, or some other experimental variable is not clear at present, and further studies are needed in this respect.

There is little disagreement that recommended doses of OTC anti-histamines, known to block the H_1 receptor, decrease activity levels in humans. For example, participants self-report significantly greater feelings of sleepiness after administration of DP than after placebo administration [32].

Anti-histamines also have been reported to act like anti-depressants in laboratory tests [39] or to have anxiolytic effects in psychiatric patients [18]. This suggests that the pharmacological effects of these agents may not be limited to the histamine system. Indeed, there is evidence that anti-histamines can interact with acetylcholine, serotonin, norepinephrine, dopamine, and opioid systems, and this may explain their effects on depression and anxiety.

Acetylcholine: Histamine and acetylcholine have a number of similar characteristics: the regional distribution of the two neurotransmitters within the CNS is similar; both increase intra-cellular levels of cyclic guanasine monophosphate in the post-synaptic neuron; the long-term desensitisation profiles of histamine and acetylcholine are comparable [39]. Furthermore, anti-histamine drug administration produces effects that resemble those of anti-cholinergic drug administration, including thought disorder, hallucinations, amnesia and delirium [9], as well as analgesia [39]. This may be due to an excitatory effect on ACh release that is modulated by H_1 receptor activity [5]. Other classic anti-cholinergic effects, such as mydriasis, that are seen after anti-histamine administration may be the result of blockade of the muscarinic cholinergic receptor [34]. In line with these notions, schizophrenic patients may be particularly susceptible to DMH abuse because of its ability to relieve the extrapyramidal symptoms that are caused by anti-psychotic drugs and that are sensitive to anti-cholinergic treatment [2]. Taken together, this evidence suggests that anti-histamines may directly affect cholinergic neurotransmission or that there may be a functional overlap between the cholinergic and histaminergic systems.

Serotonin: Animal studies show that anti-histamine drugs have the ability to block serotonin re-uptake [6], suggesting that they may possess anti-depressant properties [39]. In humans, 77% of reactive depressive patients showed an improvement in mood after chronic DP consumption, though this finding was not consistent [21].

Norepinephrine: Potential anti-depressant effects of anti-histamines also may be related to their ability to inhibit norepinephrine re-uptake [7]. Furthermore, the analgesic effects of anti-histamine drug administration may, at least partially, be explained by its interaction with the norepinephrine system [42], because increases in norepinephrine activity produce analgesia [17].

Dopamine: Central administration of histamine increases the activity of the mesolimbic, but not the nigrostriatal, dopamine system as measured by post-mortem analysis of dopamine metabolite levels, and this effect is blocked by H₁, but not H₂, receptor antagonists [16]. On the other hand, peripheral administration of anti-histamines increases in vivo release of striatal dopamine, particularly in the nucleus accumbens [13], and inhibits striatal dopamine uptake [8]. Behavioural studies have found that administration of the D₁-like dopamine receptor blocker SCH23390 abolishes the potentiating effect of anti-histamines on the conditioned place preference produced by the analgesic pentazocine [52,53]. This result implicates D₁ receptor activity in the reinforcing actions of anti-histamines. This apparent discrepancy, that both histamine agonists and antagonists potentiate DA activity in the nucleus accumbens, may be related to in vivo versus ex vivo measurements and/or central versus peripheral routes of administration. In any case, it is clear that histaminergic agents modulate dopaminergic activity. Histamine-dopamine interactions may be related to the abuse potential of DMH and these are discussed below.

Opioid: To explain the reinforcing effects of the T's and Blues street drug (a combination of the narcotic pentazocine and the anti-histamine tripelennamine), researchers have examined the drug interactions at the opioid receptor level. For example, Su [51] reported that it may be the high binding affinity of tripelennamine at these receptors that is responsible for potentiating the opioid-induced psychotomimetic effects. This suggests that anti-histamines may directly stimulate opioid receptors.

2.3. 8-Chlorotheophylline

8-Chlorotheophylline is a methylxathine drug related to caffeine and theophylline. It produces a number of effects, including nervousness, restlessness, insomnia, convulsions, anxiety, headaches, and nausea [36,44]. The behavioural effects of this agent are attributed primarily to its ability to block adenosine receptors [49]. Adenosine has a general

inhibitory effect on neural firing, and 8-chlorotheophylline likely produces excitation by blockade of these receptors.

While 8-chlorotheophylline is generally not considered to be a contributor to the behavioural effects of DMH [23], psychomotor stimulant effects following administration of the methylxanthine have been reported in animal studies. Snyder et al. [48] found a correlation between potencies of methylxanthines at competing for adenosine receptors and the subsequent locomotor stimulation. For example, adenosine inhibits dopamine systems and reducing the influence of adenosine via receptor blockade would lead to an increase in dopamine neurotransmission and a consequent increase in motor activity. Antagonism at the adenosine A₂ receptor may be responsible for these stimulant effects of methylxanthines [49]. It has been suggested that the amount of 8-chlorotheophylline in a standard DMH tablet may have no significant stimulatory effect [7], however, the behavioural effects of high doses of this methylxanthine have not been examined.

In conclusion, DMH interacts with a variety of neurotransmitter systems, some of which are also influenced by 8-chlorotheophylline. It is therefore likely that some of these interactions may account for its diverse behavioural effects.

3. Evidence for abuse liability

3.1. Animal studies

Animal experiments provide researchers with a method of assessing abuse liability of drugs in controlled settings. To our knowledge, DMH itself has not been examined in these studies (except in our own recent and as yet unpublished work, see below), although a number of behavioural paradigms have been used to evaluate the reinforcing effect of the components of DMH, i.e., the anti-histamine DP and the methylxanthine 8-chlorotheophylline. These include drug self-administration, conditioned place preference, drug discrimination, and modulation of operant responding maintained by other reinforcers (Table 1).

i. Self-administration: In line with some theories of drug addiction [40,58], the anti-histamines that have psychomotor stimulant properties are likely to be self-administered [14]. For example, DP, which produces motor excitation in mice [6] and monkeys [14], will maintain self-injection in baboons and squirrel monkeys when substituted for cocaine [3,43]. Furthermore, both DP and another antihistamine tripelennamine maintained rates of responding in a second-order fixed-interval schedule of i.v. drug injections similar to those maintained by cocaine and D-amphetamine under identical conditions [3]. These effects of DP may not be mediated solely through the histamine system: H₁ antagonists maintain self-administration at doses greater than those necessary to saturate H₁ receptors [3]. Whatever the mechanism of its action, DP clearly has rewarding effects in self-administration paradigms.

Table 1 Animal studies of the behavioural effects of DMH, DP or theophylline

Behavioural paradigm	Results	Reference
Self-administration	DP or tripelennamine maintained self-administration rates similar to those seen with cocaine or D-amphetamine when substituted for cocaine in monkeys	[3]
	DP maintained responding when substituted for self-injected cocaine in baboons	[43]
Conditioned place preference	Potentiation of pentazocin-induced place preference by tripelennamine	[53]
	Potentiation of morphine-induced place preference by histamine antagonists	[54]
	Injection of chlorpheniramine into nucleus basalis magnocellularis induced place preference	[38]
	Injection of chlorpheniramine into nucleus accumbens induced place preference	[60]
	Dose-dependent DMH-induced place preference in rats	Unpublished
Drug discrimination	Tripelleamine substituted for amphetamine in pigeons and monkeys	[14]
•	Chloropheniramine but not DP substituted for cocaine in rats	[47]
	Theophylline was discriminated from saline; the behavioural effects were generalizable to caffeine	[7]
Modulation of operant responding	DP increased both suppressed and non-suppressed responding for food	[3]
, , ,	Responding for food or shock termination showed a dose-dependent increase after H1 antagonist administration	[28,29]
	Lesions to histamine system increase rates of self-stimulation	[56]
	Theophylline increased schedule-controlled operant responding	[49]
	Reinforcing effects of theophylline seen in operant responding are greater than those of caffeine	[30]
	Methylxanthines produce dose-dependent increases in reinforcement threshold in intra-cranial self-stimulation paradigms	[31]

ii. Conditioned place preference: Anti-histamines potentiate place preferences induced by the sigma receptor ligand pentazocine [53] and by morphine [54]. While Suzuki et al. [53] reported that the anti-histamine tripelannamine (2.5 mg/kg) did not produce a conditioned place preference, rats that were given the anti-histamine chlorpheniramine directly into the nucleus basalis magnocellularis [38] or into the nucleus accumbens [60] showed a significant preference for the drug-paired location. Recent as yet unpublished research from our own laboratory reveals a dose-dependent preference for a compartment paired with DMH (no effect with systemically administered 25 or 40 mg/kg of DMH, but significant preference with 50 and 60 mg/kg). Further experiments are being performed to determine the relative contributions of DP and 8-chlorotheophylline to this reinforcing effect. Results show that anti-histamines have rewarding effects in the place conditioning paradigms.

iii. *Drug discrimination*: Monkeys, but not pigeons, trained to discriminate amphetamine from saline, will not generalize the cue effect of DP from amphetamine when the anti-histamine is substituted for the psyhocomotor stimulant. Another anti-histamine, tripellenamine, completely substituted for amphetamine in both species [14]. When anti-histamines are substituted for cocaine in rats, chlorpheniramine mimicks the cocaine stimulus, while DP produces responses predominantly associated with the saline lever [47]. While DP appears discriminable from both cocaine and amphetamine, not all anti-histamines follow this pattern. This may suggest that anti-histamines have a roll in the neuronal reward system that is similar to the actions of psychomotor stimulants. Further studies are needed.

Rats can be trained to discriminate theophylline from saline. Furthermore, the responding is maintained when

caffeine, another methylxanthine, is substituted for the theophylline [7]. The cue effect of theophylline experienced by rats appears to be similar to the cue effect of caffeine. As a methylxanthine, 8-chlorotheophylline appears to have behavioural effects similar to those of caffeine.

iv. Modulation of operant responding: Anti-histamines, including DP, increase responding for food on a second order schedule of reinforcement [3,28]. DP also increases the responding of squirrel monkeys that is suppressed by an aversive stimulus [3]. Responding for food or shock termination showed a dose-dependent increase when H₁ antagonists were administered prior to the test [28,29]. Results show that operant responding maintained by food reward is modulated by DP and other anti-histamines.

Placing lesions in parts of the histamine system will also enhance operant responding. Following destruction of the rostroventral part of the tuberomammillary nucleus, a hypothalamic region that is a source of brain histamine, rates of self-stimulation increased. Histamine may have an inhibitory roll in the neuronal reward system [56].

Theophylline increases schedule-controlled responding in operant conditioning experiments [49]. When McKim [30] compared the effects of theophylline with caffeine on the food-reinforced operant responding of mice, the response-rate enhancing effects of theophylline actually exceeded those of caffiene. On the other hand, methyl-xanthines, including 8-chlorotheophylline, produce dose-dependent increases in the reinforcement threshold in intra-cranial self-stimulation paradigms [31]. It is unclear whether the effects of anti-histamines and theophylline on operant responding are due to an influence on reinforcement systems or simply a consequence of their actions on the motor system.

3.2. Human studies

i. *DMH*: While there are reports of anti-histamines having stimulant effects in animal subjects [14], DMH is described as a depressant by human participants [27,33]. One sign of this action is lethargy reported by participants in self assessment reports [27]. At the recommended therapeutic dose (100 mg), DMH increases ratings of drowsiness, sluggishness, silence, and depression [57]. Participants in this study also felt less energetic, effective, decisive, and confident. Thus, at recommended doses, DMH appears to produce psychomotor depressant effects in humans.

ii. DP: A high dose of DP (400 mg) increased subjective ratings on scales associated with drug abuse, such as 'drug liking' and 'willingness to take the drug again' in patients with a history of barbituate abuse [37]. At the same time, however, self-ratings of negative side effects of DP administration, including 'difficulty concentrating', 'light-headed/ dizzy', and 'bad effects', also increased. A later study reported that DP may serve as a reinforcer for individuals with a history of sedative abuse; the participants rated the direct measures of drug reinforcement, such as 'liking' and 'good effects', as well as the indirect measures of drug reinforcement, such as desire to take the drug again, estimates of the amount of money the drug would be worth on the street, and the amount of money participants would personally be willing to pay for the drug, higher for DP than for the placebo [32]. As in previous studies, DP use also resulted in significantly higher peak ratings of bad effects. These aversive side effects may deter potential abusers from using anti-histamines for a 'high' [32].

Although the data are limited, the studies cited above suggest that DP may be more reinforcing than DMH in humans. The problem with this interpretation is that DMH was administered in recommended doses, whereas the administered dose of DP was large enough to induce intoxication and aversive side effects. It is interesting to note that the quantity of DMH required to deliver 400 mg of DP is approximately 750 mg which is the amount of DMH reported to induce intoxication. Further studies are needed to compare the subjective effects of DP to DMH.

3.3. Case studies

i. Acute intoxication: DMH intoxication occurs when an individual ingests anywhere from 750 mg (15 tablets) to 1250 mg (25 tablets) on a single occasion [4,41]. At doses close to 800 mg, patients reported hallucinations, pleasant and euphoric tactile and visual sensations, and excitement [2,9,18]; at larger doses (i.e., 1250 mg), some patients became confused and violent [7]. DMH intoxication can be seen when someone with a history of using illicit drugs, especially marijuana or LSD [25,40], wants a 'cheap high' [18].

ii. Chronic use: When DMH is abused chronically, tolerance to the subjective effects of the drug develops;

some patients report taking up to 5000 mg of DMH per day, more than 12 times the recommended daily dose of 400 mg [4]. During periods of abstinence, patients exhibit withdrawal symptoms including depressed affect, lethargy, irritability, loss of appetite and amnesia. In more severe cases of withdrawl, abusers experience agitation, hostility, clumsiness, and nausea [2,9]. Craving between doses also occurs [2]. A history of psychiatric problems is often evident in individuals who chronically abuse DMH. Many of the reported case studies involve patients with clinical diagnoses of schizophrenia [2], depression, panic attacks, personality disorder or substance abuse [9,18,35].

DP may be recommended to patients with chronic illnesses to help alleviate some of the aversive effects of the illness. Dinndorf et al. [12] reported several cases of chronically ill children and adolescents exhibiting drug seeking behaviour after extended exposure to DP. Psychiatric patients, and in particular those with schizophrenia receiving neuroleptic treatment, may self-administer DP for its potential to reduce extrapyramidal symptoms caused by anti-psychotic medication [11].

We know of no case studies describing abuse of 8-chlorotheophylline, suggesting that the abuse potential of DMH is dependent on the anti-histamine component of the drug. On the other hand, the methylxanthine may interact synergistically with DP to produce a greater reinforcing effect, which could explain anecdotal evidence suggesting that patients have a tendency to abuse Gravol (DMH) instead of Benadryl (DP).

3.4. Neurochemistry of abuse

The abuse potential of DMH may be related to an interaction with the dopamine system, which has been implicated in the reinforcing value of most drugs of abuse [15,25,40,59]. For example, the reinforcing effects of amphetamine and cocaine depend critically on dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens [59] and some anti-histamines substitute for the psychomotor stimulants in the selfadministration paradigm [3,43]. Neurochemical evidence, such as the H₁ antagonist-induced increase in dopamine levels in the nucleus accumbens [13], and the inhibition of re-uptake of dopamine in the striatum [8] support this notion. In addition, the dopamine D₁ receptor blocker SCH 23390 abolishes the potentiating effect of anti-histamines on the conditioned place preference produced by opioids [52,53]. Therefore, although DMH has a diverse range of physiological and behavioural effects, abuse potential of this drug may be related to the reinforcing effects produced by its interaction with the mesolimbic dopamine system.

4. Conclusions

This review emphasizes the abuse potential of antihistamines, and in particular DMH and DP; anti-histamines are reinforcing in animal paradigms, and humans report desirable subjective effects following the drugs' administration. Animal studies describe the ability of anti-histamines, and particularly DP, to produce reinforcing effects and to potentiate the reinforcing effect of other abused drugs. These studies also describe how administration of anti-histamines, such as DP, produces effects on operant responding that are similar to the effects produced by psychomotor stimulants. Taken together, this evidence confirms the abuse potential of DP [3].

In humans, psychiatric patients and street drug users are the most common abusers of anti-histamines. For example, psychiatric patients may be particularly susceptible to the potential abuse of anti-histamines, including DMH and DP, because these agents have anxiolytic, anti-depressant, and anti-cholinergic properites. At the same time, both DMH and DP are readily available as street drugs. In the drug subculture, 16 tablets, equivalent to 800 mg of DMH, is understood to be the standard dose for a 'high' [18]. Both DMH and DP have the potential to become accessible substitutes for illegal drugs such as marijuana or LSD.

The methylxanthine theophylline appears to have stimulatory effects similar to those created by caffeine [7,30]. It has been theorized that the abuse potential of drugs is related to an agent's psychomotor stimulant properties [40,58]. Therefore, anti-histamines such as DMH that includes a methylxanthine component like 8-chlorotheophylline may have a greater stimulatory effect than the anti-histamine alone in humans, and may have a greater abuse liability.

Anti-histamines have a variety of diverse CNS effects. The actions of DMH on dopamine systems may be a key factor in the drug's reinforcing effects and the development of dependence. Attempts to pinpoint a single mechanism of DMH abuse liability are complicated because there is an interaction of each component of DMH with the brain's neurotransmitter systems, and also because there may be an interaction between those components.

DMH abuse may be identified as a psychiatric disorder instead of a drug related problem [9,18], which would result in inappropriate psychiatric treatment. Further research on the neural mechanisms and the abuse liability of histamine antagonists will be beneficial for our understanding of the reinforcing qualities of DMH and the behavioural consequences of its abuse.

Acknowledgements

The authors wish to thank Drs Ronald Black and Khem Jhamandas for their valuable comments on an earlier draft of this paper. The work was funded by grants from the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada to RJB and MCO.

References

- [1] Babe KS, Serafiin WE. Histamine, bradykinin, and their antagonists. In: Hardman JG, Limbird LE, Molinoff PB, Ruddon RW, Gilman AG, editors. The pharmacological basis of therapeutics, New York: McGraw-Hill, 1996. p. 581–600.
- [2] Bartlik B, Galanter M, Angrist B. Dimenhydrinate addiction in a schizophrenic woman. J Clin Psychiat 1989;50:476.
- [3] Bergman J, Spealman RD. Some behavioural effects of histamine H1 antagonists in squirrel monkeys. J Pharmacol Exp Therap 1986; 239:104-10.
- [4] Brown JH, Sigmundson HK. Delirium from misuse of dimenhydrinate. Can Med Assoc J 1969:101:49–50.
- [5] Brown RE, Stevens DR, Haas HL. The physiology of brain histamine. Prog Neurobiol 2001;63:637–72.
- [6] Carlsson A, Lindqvist M. Central and peripheral monoaminergic membrane-pump blockade by some addictive analgesics and antihistamines. J Pharmac Pharmacol 1969;21:460–4.
- [7] Carney JM, Holloway FA, Modrow HE. Discriminative stimulus properties of methylxanthines and their metabolites in rats. Life Sci 1984;36:913–20.
- [8] Coyle JT, Snyder SH. Antiparkinsonian drugs: inhibition of dopamine uptake in the corpus striatum as a possible mechanism of action. Science 1969;166:899–901.
- [9] Craig DF, Mellor CS. Dimenhydrinate dependence and withdrawal. Can Med Assoc J 1990;142:970–4.
- [10] Cusic JW. Note on the chemistry of Dramamine. Science 1949;109:
- [11] de Nesnera AP. Diphenhydramine dependence: a need for awareness. J Clin Psychiat 1996;57:136–7.
- [12] Dinndorf PA, McCabe MA, Frierdich S. Risk of abuse of diphenhydramine in children and adolescents with chronic illnesses. J Pediat 1998;133:293-5.
- [13] Dringenberg HC, De Souza-Silva MA, Schwarting RKW, Huston JP. Increased levels of extracellular dopamine in neostriatum and nucleus accumbens after histamine H1 receptor blockade. Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Arch Pharmacol 1998;358:423–9.
- [14] Evans SM, Johanson CE. Discriminative stimulus properties of histamine H1-antagonists in animals trained to discriminate p-amphetamine or pentobarbital. J Pharmacol Exp Therap 1989;250:779–87.
- [15] Fibiger HC, Phillips AG. Mesocortical dopamine systems and reward. Annals NY Acad Sci 1988;537:206–15.
- [16] Fleckenstein AE, Lookingland KJ, Moore KE. Activation of mesolimbic dopaminergic neurons following central administration of histamine is mediated by H1 receptors. Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Arch Pharmacol 1993;347:50–4.
- [17] Franklin KBJ. Analgesia and abuse potential: an accidental association or a common substrate? Pharmacol Biochem Behav 1998;60:1–10.
- [18] Gardner DM, Kutcher S. Dimenhydrinate abuse among adolescents. Can J Psychiat 1993;38:113–6.
- [19] Gay LN, Carliner PE. The prevention and treatment of motion sickness. I. Seasickness. Science 1949;109:359.
- [20] Gutner LB, Gould WJ, Batterman RC. Action of dimenhydrinate (Dramamine) and other drugs on vestibular function. AMA Arch Otolaryngol 1951;53:308–15.
- [21] Hankoff LD, Gundalch RH, Paley HM, Rudorfer L. Diphenhydramine as an antidepressant. Dis Nerv Syst 1964;25:547–53.
- [22] Horn AS, Coyle JT, Snyder SH. Catecholamine uptake by synaptosomes from rat brain: Structure-activity relationships of drugs with differential effects on dopamine and norepinephrine neurons. Mol Pharmacol 1970;7:66–80.
- [23] Jaju BP, Wang SC. Effects of diphenhydramine and dimenhydrinate on vestibular neuronal activity of cat: a search for the locus of their antimotion sickness action. J Pharmacol Exp Therap 1971;176: 718–24.

- [24] Kalivas PW. Histamine-induced arousal in the conscious and pentobarbital-pretreated rat. J Pharmacol Exp Therap 1982;222: 37–42.
- [25] Koob GF. Neural mechanisms of drug reinforcement. Annals NY Acad Sci 1992;654:171–91.
- [26] Malcolm R, Miller WC. Dimenhydrinate (Dramamine) abuse: hallucinogenic experiences with a proprietary antihistamine. Am J Psychiat 1972;128:1012–3.
- [27] Manning C, Scandale L, Manning EJ, Gengo FM. Central nervous system effects of meclizine and dimenhydrinate: evidence of acute tolerance to antihistamines. J Clin Pharmacol 1992;32:996–1002.
- [28] McKearney JW. Stimulant actions of histamine H₁ antagonists of operant behaviour in the squirrel monkey. Psychopharmacology 1982;77:156–8.
- [29] McKearney JW. Relative potencies of histamine H₁ antagonists as behavioural stimulants in the squirrel monkey. Psychopharmacology 1985;86:380-1
- [30] McKim WA. The effect of caffiene, theophylline and amphetamine on operant responding of the mouse. Psychopharmacology 1980;68: 135–8.
- [31] Mumford GK, Holtzman SG. Methylxanthines elevate reinforcement threshold for electrical brain stimulation: role of adenosine receptors and phosphodiesterase inhibition. Brain Res 1990;528:32–8.
- [32] Mumford GK, Silverman K, Griffiths RR. Reinforcing, subjective, and performance effects of lorazepam and diphenhydramine in humans. Exp Clin Psychopharmacol 1996;4:421–30.
- [33] Muth ER, Jokerst M, Stern RM, Koch KL. Effects of dimenhydrinate on gastric tachyarrhythmia and symptoms of vection-induced motion sickness. Aviat Space Environ Med 1995;66:1041–5.
- [34] Niemegeers CJE, Awouters FHL, Janssen PAJ. The in vivo pharmacological profile of histamine (H1) antagonists in the rat. Drug Dev Res 1982;2:559–66.
- [35] Oliver M, Stenn PG. Is there a risk for dependency with therapeutic doses of dimenhydrinate? Psychosomatics 1993;34:459.
- [36] Persson CGA. Overview of the effects of theophylline. J Aller Clin Immunol 1986;78:780–7.
- [37] Preston KL, Wolf B, Guarino JJ, Griffiths RR. Subjective and behavioural effects of diphenhydramine, lorazepam and methocarbamol: evaluation of abuse liability. J Pharmacol Exp Therap 1992;262:707–20.
- [38] Privou C, Knoche A, Hasenohrl RU, Huston JP. The H₁- and H₂histamine blockers applied to the nucleus basalis magnocellularis region modulate anxiety and reinforcement related processes. Neuropharmacology 1998;37:1019–32.
- [39] Richelson E. Tricyclic antidepressants: interactions with histamine and muscarinic acetylcholine receptors. In: Enna SJ, editor. Antidepressants: neurochemical, behavioural, and clinical perspectives, New York: Raven Press, 1981. p. 53–73.
- [40] Robinson TE, Berridge KC. The neural basis of drug craving: an incentive-sensitization theory of addiction. Brain Res Rev 1993; 18:247-91
- [41] Rowe C, Verjee Z, Koren G. Adolescent dimenhydrinate abuse: resurgence of an old problem. J Adolesc Heal 1997;21:47–9.

- [42] Rumore MM, Schlichting DA. Analgesic effects of antihistamines. Life Sci 1985;36:403–16.
- [43] Sannerud CA, Kaminski BJ, Griffiths RR. Maintenance of H1 antagonists self-injection in baboons. Exp Clin Psychopharmacol 1995;3:26–32.
- [44] Serafin WE. Drugs used in the treatment of asthma. In: Hardman JG, Limbird LE, Molinoff PB, Ruddon RW, Goodman Gilman A, editors. The pharmacological basis of therapeutics, New York: McGraw-Hill, 1996. p. 659–82.
- [45] Showalter CV. Tís and blues: abuse of pentazocine and tripelennamine. J Am Med Assoc 1980;244:1224-5.
- [46] Sikdar K, Ghosh JJ. Effect of Dramamine on Deiter's nerve cells of rats following vestibular stimulation. J Neurochem 1965;13:205–6.
- [47] Slifer BL. CNS stimulant-like discriminative stimulus properties of H1-antagonists in rats. Psychopharmacology 1988;96:S53.
- [48] Snyder SH, Katims JJ, Annau Z, Bruns RF, Daly JW. Adenosine receptors and behavioural actions of methylxanthines. Proc Natl Acad Sci 1981;78:3260–4.
- [49] Spealman RD. Psychomotor stimulant effects of methylxanthines in squirrel monkeys: relation to adenosine antagonism. Psychopharmacology 1988;95:19–24.
- [50] Strickland BA, Hahn GL. The effectiveness of Dramamine in the prevention of airsickness. Science 1949;109:359–60.
- [51] Su TP. Possible explanation of 'T's and Blues' interaction: Tripelennamine (TRIP) and pentazocine (PTZ) are potent ligands for psychotomimetic sigma opioid receptor. Fed Proc 1983;42:1017.
- [52] Suzuki T, Masukawa Y, Misawa M. Drug interactions in the reinforcing effects of over-the-counter cough syrups. Psychopharmacology 1990;102:438–42.
- [53] Suzuki T, Masukawa Y, Shiozaki Y, Misawa M. Potentiation of pentazocine conditioned place preference by tripelennamine in rats. Psychopharmacology 1991;105:9–12.
- [54] Suzuki T, Takamori K, Misawa M, Onodera K. Effects of the histaminergic system on the morphine-induced conditioned place preference in mice. Brain Res 1995;675:195–202.
- [55] Takeda N, Morita M, Hasegawa S, Horii A, Kubo T, Matsunaga T. Neuropharmacology of motion sickness and emesis: a review. Acta Otolaryngol 1993;S501:10-5.
- [56] Wagner U, Segura-Torres P, Weiler T, Huston JP. The tuberomammillary nucleus region as a reinforcement inhibiting substrate: facilitation of ipsihypothalamic self-stimulation by unilateral ibotenic acid lesions. Brain Res 1993;613:269–74.
- [57] Wendt GR, Cameron JS, Specht PG. Chemical studies of behaviour: VI. Placebo and Dramamine as methodological controls, and effects on moods, emotions and motivations. J Psychol 1962;53:257–79.
- [58] Wise RA, Bozarth MA. A psychomotor stimulant theory of addiction. Psychol Rev 1987;94:469–92.
- [59] Wise RA, Rompré PP. Brain dopamine and reward. Annual Rev Psychol 1989;40:191–225.
- [60] Zimmerman P, Privou C, Huston JP. Differential sensitivity of the caudal and rostral nucleus accumbens to the rewarding effects of a H₁histaminergic receptor blocker as measured with place-preference and self-stimulation behaviour. Neuroscience 1999;94:93–103.